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KRISTA L. BAUGHMAN (SBN: 264600)
kbaughman@dhillonlaw.com  
KARIN M. SWEIGART (SBN: 247462) 
KSweigart@dhillonlaw.com  
JEREMIAH D. GRAHAM (SBN: 313206)
jgraham@dhillonlaw.com  
DHILLON LAW GROUP INC.
177 Post Street, Suite 700 
San Francisco, California 94108 
Telephone: (415) 433-1700 
Facsimile: (415) 520-6593 

Attorneys for Plaintiff 
LAURIE EDWARDS-TATE

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN DIEGO DIVISION

Case Number: 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR 
DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

LAURIE EDWARDS-TATE, an 
individual, 

                            Plaintiff,  
     vs.  

PALOMAR HEALTH DISTRICT,  

                             Defendant. 
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Plaintiff, Palomar Health Board of Director Laurie Edwards-Tate (“Director Edwards-Tate”), by 

and through her attorneys, Dhillon Law Group Inc., for claims against the above-named Defendant

Palomar Health District (“Palomar Health” or the “District”), alleges and avers as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Supreme Court has stated that “there can be no question but that the First 

Amendment protects expressions in opposition” to the prevailing views of the day, including when those 

views are expressed by elected officials. Bond v. Floyd, 385 U.S. 116, 132 (1966). “The manifest 

function of the First Amendment in a representative government requires that legislators be given the 

widest latitude to express their views on issues of policy,” id.at 135, because “debate on public issues 

should be uninhibited, robust, and wide open.” New York Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254, 270 (1964).  

2. “Legislators have an obligation to take positions on controversial political questions so 

that their constituents can be fully informed by them, and be better able to assess their qualifications for 

office; also so they may be represented in governmental debates by the person they have elected to 

represent them.” Bond, 385 U.S. at 136.   

3. Palomar Health’s policies prohibiting publicly elected Director Edwards-Tate from 

making public comments regarding District decisions on threat of sanctions violate the First Amendment 

and have necessitated this lawsuit.  

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Action arises under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 in relation to Palomar’s violation of Director 

Edwards-Tate’s First Amendment rights. This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1331 and 1343. This Court has authority to award the requested declaratory relief under 28 U.S.C. § 

2201; the requested injunctive relief and damages under 28 U.S.C. § 1343(a); and attorneys’ fees and 

costs under 42 U.S.C. § 1988.  

5. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 1391(b), because the events giving 

rise to the claims made herein occurred in this Judicial District, and Defendant Palomar has its principal 

place of business within this District. 

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

6. This Action is properly assigned to the San Diego Division of the Court, as Defendant 

II 
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Palomar Health has its principal place of business in San Diego County, California.  

PARTIES 

7. Ms. Laurie Edwards-Tate is an individual who resides in San Diego, California. She is a 

publicly elected official on the Palomar Health District Board of Directors. 

8. Palomar Health District is a health care district organized under the laws of the State of 

California that conducts business in San Diego, California. 

RELEVANT FACTS

9. Health care districts (of which the Palomar Health District is one) are creatures of state 

law and may only exercise the rights and powers granted by state statute. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 

32001.  

10. Parameters for health care districts’ board of directors are also outlined in state law. A 

health care district’s board must have five members, each of whom shall be a registered voter residing 

in the district. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 32001. They serve four-year terms. Id. Director elections are 

governed by the state’s Elections Code, and vacancies are required to be filled in accordance with the 

regulations in the Government Code. Id.    Director compensation is governed by state law, and hospital 

boards must follow the requirements for open meetings outlined in the Ralph M. Brown Act. Cal. Health 

& Safety Code § 32103–32106. 

11. Health care district board of directors are responsible for the operation of all health care 

facilities and must act “according to the best interests of the public health and shall make and enforce 

all rules, regulations and bylaws necessary for the administration, government, protection and 

maintenance of health care facilities.” Cal. Health & Safety Code § 32125.  

12. Health care districts must establish their own treasury. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 32127. 

They can also exercise eminent domain and levy taxes. Cal. Health & Safety Code §§ 32002, 32121, 32200–

32243.

13. Director Edwards-Tate was first elected to the Palomar Health Board of Directors in 

2018. As outlined in state law, she seeks to make decisions according to the best interests of the public 

health generally, and her constituents specifically. She has been a vocal advocate for management 

transparency and greater public access to the public hospital’s financial records, especially as a series 
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of prior poor financial decisions have left Palomar in dire financial straits. In her most recent election, 

Director Edwards-Tate garnered over 80% of the popular vote in her district.  

14. Under state law, Palomar Health’s Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and 

maintaining the District’s website. Cal. Health & Safety Code § 32139.  

15. In or around August 2023, Palomar Health’s administration modified the way users 

could access its website. Specifically, prior to allowing any access to Palomar Health’s website, all users 

must first agree to Terms of Use (“Terms of Use”) that: expressly permit collection of a user’s personal 

identifying information; limit potential damage recovery in any lawsuit; waive the right to bring a class 

action lawsuit; constitute agreement to an arbitration provision, among other requirements. If the user

does not wish to waive these legal rights, they cannot access Palomar Health’s website. A true and 

correct copy of Palomar Health’s Terms of Use as it appeared on October 27, 2023, is attached to this 

complaint as Exhibit A.  

16. Among the materials to which community members may not gain access without 

agreeing to waive their legal rights is biographical information about the District’s elected board 

members, Board of Directors meeting agendas and voting resolutions, information explaining the public 

comment process, and hospital budgets.  

17. After visiting the website and reviewing its changes, a local reporter from the Voice of 

San Diego (“the Voice”) wrote a story on the concerning the Terms of Use and its potential implications 

for public access. In a follow up story on September 28, 2023, the reporter published the following 

comments attributed to Director Edwards-Tate: 

Laurie Edwards-Tate, Palomar Health board director, told Layne she came 
across the terms agreement for the first time only a few weeks ago while 
attempting to access meeting agendas.

“It was shocking to me, and I felt prohibited from its use and I felt like it 
was a barrier for being able to access it.” Edwards Tate said, speaking on 
her own behalf and not for the board. She added that, to her knowledge, the 
terms of use agreement was never brought up on a regular board meeting. 

18. On October 5, 2023, outside counsel retained by and representing Palomar Health’s 

Chief Executive Officer (“Palomar Health’s Counsel”) emailed Director Edwards-Tate a “Notice of 

II 
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Action.” Select portions of Palomar Health’s Counsel’s Notice of Action email detailing the purported 

policy violations are attached to this Complaint as Exhibit B. The Notice of Action stated that Palomar 

Health’s Counsel was recommending that he be permitted to investigate Director Edwards-Tate’s

“participation” in the Voice article because her private speech “most likely [] violated both the Media 

Policy and Code of Conduct.” Palomar Health’s Counsel stated that he would be investigating her 

speech so that he had “a basis to recommend whether sanctions and or other remedies are warranted 

based on the facts.”  

19. The Notice of Action argued that the Board’s Media Policy (“Media Policy”) prevented 

Director Edwards-Tate from providing her personal opinions to the media without first getting 

permission from the District’s Chief Legal Officer or the District’s Marketing Department to ensure 

that the content of her speech was “coordinated” to mimic the District’s desired messaging.   

20. The Notice of Action quoted the Board’s Duty of Loyalty (“Duty of Loyalty Policy”) as 

requiring elected board members to “put the District and its constituents’ good before his or her own 

personal interest,” and “not [make statements that] undermine public or District constituent confidence 

in the Board.” It then argued that Director Edwards-Tate violated her Duty of Loyalty when she 

questioned the wisdom and legality of the District’s decisions because her disagreement with Palomar 

Health’s decisions might undermine public trust and constituent confidence in the District. This 

“requirement” presents a different standard than that outlined for health care directors under state law. 

Cal. Health & Safety Code § 32125.  

21. Finally, the Notice of Action quoted the Board’s Duty of Care policy as requiring elected 

board members not to “knowingly disseminate false or misleading information.” It then argued that, 

because Director Edwards-Tate disagreed with Palomar Health’s Counsel’s characterization that the 

Administration’s recent changes to the website’s Terms of Use were “minor” and simply designed to 

“protect Palomar’s patients and citizens of the District,” she was making false and misleading 
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statements in violation of her Duty of Care. 

22. In short, both facially and in the ways the District has stated it plans to apply them to 

Director Edwards-Tate, the District’s Media Policy, Duty of Loyalty Policy, and Duty of Care Policy 

(together “Policies”) restrain Board members from speaking messages critical of District actions

directly to the public on threat of sanctions, and therefore violate the First Amendment.  

COUNT I

Violation of the First Amendment – Prior Restraint on Speech

23. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the prior paragraphs as if fully 

contained herein.  

24. The Policies and Defendant’s enforcement thereof violate the Free Speech Clause of the 

First Amendment, both facially and as applied to Plaintiff. 

25. The Free Speech Clause was incorporated against the states in Gitlow v. New York, 268 

U.S. 652 (1925) (dicta) and Stromberg v. California, 283 U.S. 359 (1931). 

26. The District’s Policies are a prior restraint on speech. 

27. The District’s Policies forbid certain speech before the speech occurs.

28. Plaintiff seeks to engage in protected speech in the form of providing her opinions on 

the District’s Terms of Use policies and other District policies.  

29. The District’s policies threaten civil or criminal sanctions as a means of coercing Board 

Members, including Plaintiff, not to speak.  

30. The District’s Policies require a putative speaker to submit proposed speech to the 

District before engaging in that speech, and the District is then empowered to determine whether the 

applicant should be granted permission to speak on the basis of the District’s review of the content of 

the proposed speech. 

31. The District’s Policies target speech based on its communicative content. 

32. The District’s Policies cannot survive strict scrutiny. 

33. The District’s Policies are not narrowly tailored. 

34. The District’s Policies do not serve a compelling state interest. 
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35. The District’s Policies target particular views taken by speakers on a subject.  

36. The District’s Policies are per se unconstitutional. 

37. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and irreparable harm to 

her constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing the Policies. 

38. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, Plaintiff is entitled to declaratory relief and 

temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunctive relief invalidating and restraining enforcement of the 

Policies. 

39. Plaintiff found it necessary to engage the services of private counsel to vindicate her 

rights under the law. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1988. 

COUNT II

Violation of California’s Freedom of Speech Clause (Cal. Const. Art. 1, § 2) 

40. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations in the prior paragraphs as if fully 

contained herein.  

41. In California “[e]very person may freely speak, write and publish his or her sentiments 

on all subjects, being responsible for the abuse of this right. A law may not restrain or abridge liberty 

of speech or press.” Cal. Const. Art. 1, §2. 

42. “The California Supreme Court has recognized that the California Constitution is ‘more 

protective, definitive and inclusive of rights to expression and speech’ than the First Amendment to the 

United States Constitution.” Rosenbaum v. City and County of San Francisco, 484 F.3d 1142, 1167 (9th 

Cir. 2007). 

43. For the reasons stated in Count I, coercing Plaintiff to abstain from making comments 

about the District on threat of sanctions violates Plaintiff’s liberty of speech rights under the California 

Constitution. 

44. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law and will suffer serious and irreparable harm to 

her constitutional rights unless Defendant is enjoined from implementing and enforcing the Policies.
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45. Plaintiff found it necessary to engage the services of private counsel to vindicate her

rights under the law. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to an award of attorney fees and costs pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure Section 1021.5 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment against Defendant 

as follows: 

1. An order and judgment declaring that the Policies, facially and as-applied to Plaintiff,

violate the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, Section 2 of the

California Constitution;

2. An order temporarily, preliminarily, and permanently enjoining and prohibiting

Defendant from enforcing the Policies or otherwise interfering with Plaintiff’s ability to

exercise constitutionally protected rights;

3. For attorneys’ fees and costs;

4. Any other relief the Court deems just and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

Date: November 1, 2023 DHILLON LAW GROUP INC.

     By: ______________________________ 
KRISTA L. BAUGHMAN 
KARIN M. SWEIGART 
JEREMIAH D. GRAHAM  
Attorneys for Plaintiff  

/s/ Krista Baughman
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

SAN DIEGO DIVISION

Case Number: 

VERIFICATION OF LAURIE EDWARDS-TATE 

I, LAURIE EDWARDS-TATE, am the PLAINTIFF in the case captioned Laurie Edwards-Tate 

v. Palomar Health District and have authorized the filing of this complaint. I have reviewed the 

allegations made in the complaint, and of those allegations of which I have personal knowledge, I 

believe them to be true. As to those allegations of which I do not have personal knowledge which are 

stated on information and belief, I believe them to be true.

Date: ________________     ________________________________ 
Laurie Edwards-Tate 

LAURIE EDWARDS-TATE, an 
individual, 

                            Plaintiff,  
     vs.  

PALOMAR HEALTH DISTRICT,  

                             Defendant. 

10/31/2023 
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By using this website, you agree 
to Palomar Health's Terms of Use: 
Terms of Use 
By using this website, you agree to the following Terms of Use. If you do not 
agree to all of these terms, please do not use this website. Palomar 
Health reserves the right to change, modify, add, or delete portions of these 
Terms of Use at any time, including to the arbitration and class waiver provisions 
identified below. Your continued use of this website following any changes to the 
Terms of Use will mean that you accept those changes. Please refer to the date 
listed above to determine when the last changes were made. Please read 
carefully below regarding your rights with respect to disputes, which includes an 
agreement to resolve disputes by arbitration on an individual basis. 

Use of Personal Information/Privacy: 

This website is owned and operated by Palomar Health, a public health district in 
California. By using this website, you agree that Palomar Health may monitor 
your use of this website and may use the results of such monitoring without 
limitation. 

During your visit to our website, we may request information from you, such as 
your name, email address, physical address, telephone number and other 
personal information. Further, we will collect any other personal information 
you share with us. 

Personally identifiable information may be collected from visitors to our website 
and provided in an aggregate form to other parties within the Palomar 
Health family, or external to it, for marketing, advertising or other similar uses. 
Third parties may monitor your use of this website. 

We provide several ways to e-mail us with questions you may have as you 
navigate our website. Please note that any information sent through an e-mail 
message is unsecured and can be seen on computers which transfer data from 
your computer to Palomar Health. We recommend that you do not email 
sensitive personal health information, or any other confidential information, 
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to Palomar Health or anyone else. Should you choose to provide information in 
this manner, you do so at your own risk. 

For further information regarding Palomar Health’s Privacy Policy, which is 
incorporated into these Terms of Use by reference, please 
review: https://www.palomarhealth.org/privacy-information/ 

Cookies: 

Please be aware that your browser must be enabled to accept cookies for you to 
use certain areas of our website. A cookie is a piece of data that a web server 
stores on your hard drive so that it can be retrieved later. Other than as 
discussed above, we do not use this information for any other purpose. All of the 
information Palomar obtains from you is stored in our database and may be 
retrieved by people who are gathering that information. A cookie containing your 
unique ID is all that is stored on your computer. 

Copyright: 

1. Ownership: In general, information presented on this web site, 
unless otherwise indicated, is considered in the public domain. It 
may be distributed or copied as permitted by law. However, Palomar 
Health does make use of copyrighted data (e.g., photographs or 
other materials) which may require additional permissions prior to 
your use. Palomar Health shall have the unlimited right to use for 
any purpose, free of any charge, all information submitted via this 
site, except those submissions made under separate legal contract. 
Palomar Health shall be free to use, for any purpose, any ideas, 
concepts, or techniques contained in information provided through 
this site. 

2. Permission May Be Required From Other Parties: This website 
may include copyrighted materials owned by third-party 
contributors who have granted Palomar Health permission to post 
those materials on this website. The fact that Palomar Health has 
permission to post the materials does not give you the right to use 
those materials. To use any copyrighted material that is not owned 
or created by Palomar Health, you must seek permission directly 
from the owning or holding sources. 

Trademarks: 
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“PalomarHealth.org,” “Palomar Health,” and all logos related to Palomar Health’s 
services are either trademarks or registered trademarks of Palomar 
Health or Palomar Health’s licensors. You may not copy or otherwise use them 
without Palomar Health’s prior written consent. In addition, all page headers, 
custom graphics, button icons, and scripts are similarly protected and you may 
not copy, imitate, modify or use them without our prior written consent. You may 
use HTML logos provided by Palomar Health for the purpose of directing web 
traffic to Palomar Health. You may not alter, modify or change these HTML logos 
in any way, use them in a manner that misrepresents Palomar Health or its 
services or use them in a manner that implies Palomar Health’s sponsorship or 
endorsement, unless so authorized in writing by Palomar Health. 

You must be over 13 to use this Website: 

This website is intended for use by people age 13 or older. If you are younger 
than 13, you should seek permission from your parent or guardian to use this 
website and any information submitted on your behalf to this website must be by 
a parent or guardian. 

Content of this Website Is for Informational Purposes Only – No Medical 
Diagnosis or Advice is Given: 

The content and materials provided in this website are for informational and 
educational purposes only and are not intended to supplement or comprise a 
medical diagnosis or other professional opinion, or to be used in lieu of a 
consultation with a physician or competent health care professional for medical 
diagnosis and/or treatment. 

PALOMAR HEALTH DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE ACCURACY, TIMELINESS OR 
COMPLETENESS OF SUCH INFORMATION AND CONTENT AND MAKES NO 
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, REGARDING THE USE OF SUCH 
INFORMATION AND CONTENT. PALOMAR HEALTH ASSUMES NO LIABILITY OR 
RESPONSIBILITY WHATSOEVER OF ANY KIND FOR THE INFORMATION OR 
CONTENT CONTAINED IN THE WEBSITE, OR FOR ANY DIAGNOSIS OR 
TREATMENT MADE IN RELIANCE THEREON. 

PALOMAR HEALTH DOES NOT GUARANTEE THE CONFIDENTIALITY OR 
RELIABILITY OF ANY COMMUNICATIONS MADE THROUGH THIS WEBSITE. THE 
INTERNET SHOULD NOT BE USED TO TRANSMIT ANY SENSITIVE OR 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION TO PALOMAR HEALTH, AS OTHERS MAY 
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INTERCEPT THE INFORMATION. ADDITIONALLY, INFORMATION 
TRANSMITTED TO PALOMAR HEALTH VIA ELECTRONIC MEANS TO THIS 
WEBSITE MAY NOT BE RECEIVED AT ALL, MAY NOT BE RECEIVED OR 
REVIEWED IN A TIMELY MANNER, OR MAY BE RECEIVED BY THE WRONG 
PARTY. 

Linked Sites: 

The Palomar Health Website contains links to external websites which may be 
useful to you and which may provide services. These links are provided as an 
information service only. It is the responsibility of the user to evaluate the 
content and usefulness of information obtained from other websites. Linking to 
another website takes you away from the Palomar Health Website and subjects 
you to the privacy policy of the new website. Palomar is not responsible for the 
content of any external website. Palomar Health will not be liable in any way for 
any external website, including, without limitation, for any loss or damage of any 
kind incurred as a result of your use of the such sites. You agree that you must 
evaluate, and bear all risks associated with the use of any external website, 
including, without limitation, any reliance on the accuracy, completeness or 
usefulness of the material contained therein. 

Third Party Advertising: 

Third parties may offer goods and services to you through marketing that is 
made available at or through this website. Unless otherwise expressly 
stated, Palomar Health makes no endorsement regarding such parties, nor 
does Palomar Health make any representation, recommendation or warranty 
with respect to these third parties’ goods, services or advertising. You agree to 
hold Palomar Health harmless in connection with the selection of third party 
advertisers, as well as their acts and omissions. 

Disclaimer of Warranties: 

All materials on this website are provided “as is” and Palomar Health expressly 
disclaims any and all warranties of the material provided herein, expressly stated 
or by implication, including any: (i) implied warranties of design, 
merchantability, or fitness for a particular purpose or title, (ii) warranties arising 
from a course of dealing, usage or trade practice, and (iii) warranties of non-
infringement. 
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No oral or written information or advice given by Palomar Health in connection 
with this website will create any warranty. 

Palomar Health does not warrant or promise that the functions contained in any 
of the services or products provided on this website will meet your 
requirements, or that the operation of any such services or products will be 
uninterrupted or error-free, or that defects in any such services or products will 
be corrected, or that this site or the server that makes it available are free of 
viruses or other harmful components. Furthermore, Palomar Health does not 
warrant or make any representations regarding the use or the results of the use 
of any such services or products in terms of its correctness, accuracy, timeliness, 
reliability or otherwise. 

(State Limitations) 

Some states do not allow the exclusion of implied warranties, so some of the 
above exclusions may not apply to you. You should check your local laws for any 
restrictions or limitations regarding implied warranties. 

(User Information, Data, and Content) 

PALOMAR HEALTH ASSUMES NO LIABILITY OR RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE 
INFORMATION, DATA OR CONTENTS GENERATED BY YOU IN CONNECTION 
WITH THIS WEBSITE OR SERVICES. PALOMAR HEALTH EXERCISES NO 
AUTHORITY OVER SUCH INFORMATION, DATA AND CONTENTS, DOES NOT 
REVIEW OR MONITOR SUCH INFORMATION, DATA AND CONTENTS, AND WILL 
NOT BE LIABLE OR RESPONSIBLE FOR DETERMINING THE ACCURACY, 
TIMELINESS, COMPLETENESS, APPLICATION OR CORRECT USE THEREOF. 

Limitations on Damages 

BY USING THIS WEBSITE YOU AGREE THAT PALOMAR HEALTH SHALL NOT BE 
LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL 
OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES THAT RESULT FROM THE USE OF, OR THE INABILITY 
TO USE, THIS WEBSITE. 

Arbitration 
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1. Affects your and our rights and will impact how claims between you 
and us are resolved; 

2. Includes a Prohibition of Class and Representative Actions and Non-
Individualized Relief pursuant to which you agree to waive your 
right to participate in a class action lawsuit against us; 

3. Requires you to follow the Opt-Out Procedure to opt-out of these 
arbitration provisions by mailing us a written notice that must be 
postmarked no later than 30 days after the date you accept these 
Terms of Use for the first time. 

If a dispute arises between you and Palomar Health, our goal is to learn about 
and address your concerns. If we are unable to do so to your satisfaction, we aim 
to provide you with a neutral and cost-effective means of resolving the dispute 
quickly. Disputes between you and Palomar Health should be reported 
to Palomar Health according to the provisions of the Government Claims Act, 
California Government Code section 810, et seq. All notices under the 
Government Claims Act, section 910 et seq. should be directed to: 

Attn: Government Claims Act 
Secretary of the Board of Directors of Palomar Health 
2125 Citracado Pkwy, Suite 300 
Escondido, CA 92029 

In the event that resolution under the presentation requirements of the 
Government Claims Act is not successful in resolving your claim, you agree to 
abide by the following: 

1. Arbitration Agreement: To the maximum extent permitted by law, 
you and Palomar Health each agree that any and all disputes or 
claims that have arisen or may arise between you and Palomar 
Health, including without limitation federal and state statutory 
claims, common law claims, and those based in contract, tort, fraud, 
misrepresentation or any other legal theory, will be resolved 
exclusively through final and binding arbitration. This agreement to 
arbitrate is intended to be broadly interpreted. The Federal 
Arbitration Act governs the interpretation and enforcement of this 
agreement to arbitrate. 

2. Arbitration Venue: Following the procedures set forth in the 
Government Claims Act, either you or Palomar Health may initiate 
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arbitration. You and Palomar Health each agree to use JAMS 
(https://www.jamsadr.com/) and to submit any demand for 
arbitration through JAMS’ process. You and Palomar Health agree to 
the jurisdiction of the JAMS arbitrator over any dispute between you 
and Palomar Health, unless you and Palomar Health agree otherwise 
in writing. If JAMS is not available to administer the dispute, you and 
Palomar Health agree to use an arbitrator from the American 
Arbitration Association (https://www.adr.org/). 

3. No Class Actions: To the maximum extent permitted by law, you 
and Palomar Health agree that each of us may bring claims against 
the other only on an individual basis and not as a plaintiff or class 
member in any purported class or representative action or 
proceeding. Unless both you and Palomar Health agree otherwise, 
the arbitrator(s) may not consolidate or join more than one person’s 
or party’s claims and may not otherwise preside over any form of a 
consolidated, representative or class proceeding. Also, the 
arbitrator(s) may award relief (including monetary, injunctive and 
declaratory relief) only in favor of the individual party seeking relief 
and only to the extent necessary to provide relief necessitated by 
that party’s individual claim(s) and in keeping with the damages 
limitations in the Limitations on Damages section above. 

4. Arbitration Procedures: Arbitration is more informal than a 
lawsuit in court. Arbitration uses a neutral arbitrator or arbitrators 
instead of a judge or jury, and court review of an arbitration award 
is very limited. However, the arbitrator can award the same 
damages and relief on an individual basis that a court can award to 
an individual. All issues are for the arbitrator to decide, except that a 
court of competent jurisdiction may decide issues relating to 
arbitrability, the scope or enforceability of this agreement to 
arbitrate, or issues that these Terms of Use indicate that a court can 
resolve. 

Any arbitration will be administered by JAMS, a well-respected arbitration and 
mediation service. For all claims in which the value of the relief sought is $10,000 
or less, JAMS’ Streamlined Arbitration Rules and Procedures, as modified by 
these Terms of Use, will apply without exception unless otherwise agreed to in 
writing by both you and Palomar Health. For all other claims, JAMS’ 
Comprehensive Rules, as modified by these Terms of Use, apply. All of JAMS’ 
rules are available on their website at https://www.jamsadr.com/adr-rules-
procedures/. 
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The arbitrator must decide the substance of all claims in accordance with 
applicable law, including recognized principles of equity, and will honor all 
claims of privilege recognized by law. No court or arbitrator is bound by rulings 
in prior arbitrations involving different users of Palomar Health’s website, except 
that a court or arbitrator will be bound by rulings in prior arbitrations involving 
the same Palomar Health website user, to the extent required by applicable law. 
The award of the arbitrator shall be final and binding, and judgment on the 
award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction 
thereof. 

5. Arbitration Costs: Payment of all JAMS or arbitrator fees will be 
governed by JAMS’ rules, unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Use. If you are able to demonstrate that the costs of accessing 
arbitration will be prohibitive as compared to the costs of accessing 
a court for purposes of pursuing litigation on an individual basis, 
Palomar Health will pay as much of the JAMS or arbitrator fees as 
the arbitrator deems necessary to prevent the cost of accessing the 
arbitration from being prohibitive. Any request for payment of fees 
by Palomar Health must be submitted by mail to JAMS along with 
your Demand for Arbitration. In the event the arbitrator determines 
that either the substance of your or Palomar Health’s claim or the 
relief sought was frivolous or brought for an improper purpose, then 
you or Palomar Health may seek to recover from you or Palomar 
Health any fees paid, including attorneys’ fees, to the extent 
permitted by JAMS’ rules and applicable law. 

6. Severability: You and Palomar Health agree that all of the terms in 
these Terms of Use are severable. You and Palomar Health agree 
that, if a court decides that any part of these Terms of Use is invalid 
or unenforceable, the other parts of these Terms of Use still apply. 
You further agree that, if any disputes are determined by a court not 
to be subject to arbitration, then those disputes must be severed 
from any other disputes and may be litigated in court, with the 
remaining claims heard in arbitration. 

7. Choice of Law: You agree that, except to the extent inconsistent 
with or preempted by federal law and except as otherwise stated in 
these Terms of Use, the laws of the State of California, without 
regard to principles of conflict of laws, will govern these Terms of 
Use and any claim or dispute that has arisen or may arise between 
you and Palomar Health. 
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Opt-Out Procedure: You can choose to reject the arbitration provisions of these 
Terms of Use by mailing us a written opt-out notice. The opt-out notice must be 
postmarked no later than 30 days after the date you accept these Terms of Use 
for the first time. You must mail the opt-out notice to: 

Attn: Opt-Out Notice 
Secretary of the Board of Directors of Palomar Health 
2125 Citracado Pkwy, Suite 300 
Escondido, CA 92029 

Your opt-out notice must contain the following information: Your name, your 
address, and the first date after August 11, 2023, on which you first 
accessed Palomar Health’s website. PLEASE NOTE: You must sign the opt-out 
notice for it to be effective. This procedure is the only way you can opt out of the 
arbitration provisions of these Terms of Use. Please note that even if you opt out 
of the arbitration provisions of these Terms of Use, all other parts of the Terms of 
Use continue to apply. 

 

� I have read and accept the Terms of Use 
� I do not accept the Terms of Use 
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EXHIBIT B 
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Duty of Loyalty Violation 

Section 1.2 Duty of Loyalty provides: “Board Members must . . . put the District and its 

constituents’ good before his or her own personal interest. Once the Board has acted, a 

Board Member may seek change through Board action, but may not undermine public or 

District constituent confidence in the Board or the District.” See also Palomar Health 

Bylaw Art. IV, Sec. C, Board Duties (“Members of the Board of Directors have duties as 

provided by applicable law, any Board-approved policy of the District, and Palomar 

Health’s Board of Directors Code of Conduct (‘Code of Conduct’).”). 

Duty of Care Violation 

Section 1.1 Due Care provides: “Board Members must perform their duties as members 

of the Board and committees in good faith, with sound business judgment and with the 

care, including reasonable inquiry, of an ordinarily prudent person . . . Directors may not 

knowingly disseminate false or misleading information, and must act promptly to 

correct erroneous communications for which they are responsible.” See also Palomar 

Health Bylaw Art. IV, Sec. C, Board Duties (“Members of the Board of Directors have 

duties as provided by applicable law, any Board-approved policy of the District, and 

Palomar Health’s Board of Directors Code of Conduct (‘Code of Conduct’).”). 

Media Policy Violation 

Section 3.8 Board Member Media Relations provides: “The Board wishes to ensure that 

accurate, complete and consistent information is provided to the constituents of the 

District via the news media in a responsive manner that is compliant with state and 

federal laws, and safeguards patient privacy . . . As a public entity, Palomar has an 

obligation, as well as a desire, to communicate with the public it serves. Board Members 

are encouraged to contact the District Marketing Department or specifically designated 

District media representative before speaking or otherwise publishing to the media on 

matters of District business. This assists the Marketing Department or specifically 

designated District media representative to coordinate messaging, ascertain the nature of 

the media query (if any) and what prompted it, determine the most recent and relevant 

information to disseminate, and select among possible responses and spokespersons, 

whether District representatives or Board Members. A District Marketing Department or 

specifically designated media relationship representative will be available at all times to 

assist in this process; should a Board Member experience difficulty reaching either, the 

Board Member should raise the concern with the Chair and/or General Counsel.”  See 

also Palomar Health Bylaw Art. IV, Sec. C, Board Duties (“Members of the Board of 

Directors have duties as provided by applicable law, any Board-approved policy of the 

District, and Palomar Health’s Board of Directors Code of Conduct (‘Code of 

Conduct’).”). 
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